
 

         
 

CITY OF BEAUFORT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
POST OFFICE DRAWER 1167 

BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA 29901 
(843) 525-7011  

 
MINUTES 

 
CITY OF BEAUFORT 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
Thursday, January 25, 2010, 5:30 p.m. 

BEAUFORT CITY HALL – 302 Carteret Street 
Beaufort, South Carolina 

 
STATEMENT OF MEDIA NOTIFICATION:  “In accordance with South Carolina Code of 
Laws, 1976, Section 30-4-80(d), as amended, all local media duly notified of the time, date, 
place, and agenda of this meeting.  
              
 
Members Present 
Alice Howard, Chairman 
Brad Hill 
Eric Powell 
 
Members Absent 
James Lane, Vice-Chairman 
Joan Sedlacek 
 
Staff Present 
Libby Anderson, City of Beaufort Planning Director 
Julie Bachety, Recorder 
 
I. Call to Order 
 

Alice Howard, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 5:35 P.M.  Ms. Howard 
introduced the board members, Brad Hill and Eric Powell, and City of Beaufort staff, 
Libby Anderson, Planning Director, and Julie Bachety, Recorder. 

 
 
 



 
 
ZBOA Minutes 
January 25, 2010 
Page 2 
 
II. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT COMPLAINCE 
 
 Public Notification of the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting has been published in 
 compliance with the Freedom of Information Act requirements and the City of Beaufort 
 Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). 
 
III. Review Minutes: 
 

A. Minutes of November 23, 2009 
 

Motion:  Mr. Hill made a motion, seconded by Mr. Powell, to accept the minutes as 
presented.  The motion carried with a vote of three to zero. 
 

IV. Review of Projects: 
 
A. SC 170 & Burton Hill Road (Murphy Express of Beaufort), identified as 

District 122, Tax Map 29, Parcel 241, Number of Fueling Stations Variance. 
 

Applicant:  Mike G. Lukus, Commercial Site Solutions, Inc. (ZB10-02) 
 
Ms. Howard, Chairman, informed everyone that since there are only 3 attending 
board members, there needs to be a unanimous vote to grant the variances. 
 
Ms. Anderson presented her staff report.  She reminded the board members that 
the applicant did receive approval on the “use” at the November 2009 meeting.  
Ms. Anderson said the applicant is requesting a variance in order to construct a 
gas station with a convenience store with six gas pumps (12 fueling stations).  The 
UDO states that there are conditions for the permitting of fuel sales and they are 
that no more than 8 pumps (defined as a fueling area for an individual vehicle) 
shall be permitted and that if more than 4 pumps are proposed, the pumps shall be 
split and located on either side of the building.  She said the applicant is 
requesting a variance of these conditions to allow 12 fueling stations to be 
developed and to permit all the pump islands to be located to one side of the 
building.  Ms. Anderson said letters were sent out to adjoining property owners on 
January 8; the property was posted on January 9; and the public hearing was 
advertised in the January 10 edition of The Beaufort Gazette.  She said staff has 
received two public comments on this application which were included in the 
board member’s packets.  She also received a public comment this afternoon 
which was handed out to the board members.  Ms. Anderson noted that all the gas  
 



 
 

ZBOA Minutes 
January 25, 2010 
Page 3 

 
stations in the City were developed prior to the new conditions.  She said staff has  
conducted a survey of the gas stations in the area, noting the number of pumps,  
number of fueling stations, and the location of the pumps in relation to the 
building.  This survey was included in the Board’s packets. 
 
Ms. Anderson believes that the applicant does not appear to have met all the 
criteria necessary for approval.  She said if the Board cannot make all the findings 
necessary to approve the variance, but believes that the limitation on the number  
of fueling stations is too restrictive city-wide or within the SC 170 corridor, they 
should make a recommendation that the ordinance be revised.  This 
recommendation would then be presented to City Council and/or the Planning 
Commission for direction on how to proceed or the applicant may also submit an 
application to have the ordinance changed. 
 
Mr. Gibson said he has revamped the plans a bit.  He said, as he mentioned at the last 
meeting, a linear six takes up more space than a stacked eight.  He referred to the 
presentation board to show the difference between linear and stacking.  Mr. Gibson 
said Mike Lukus has worked hard to re-work the building and the trees have been 
addressed.  Mr. Lukus said half of the trees on site will be saved.  He also talked 
further about the internal access.  Mr. Lukus showed the colored elevation boards. 
 
Mr. Hill said going from 4 to 6 is a big issue for him.  Mr. Hill feels there are other 
locations with lesser traffic patterns, etc.  Mr. Hill said he feels what the applicants 
are asking is for the Board to go against the Ordinance.  He feels there is not a 
“hardship”.  Ms. Howard asked if there are other sites available in the Town of Port 
Royal or in the County.  She feels our ordinance is restricting the applicant for their 
site.  Mr. Lukus said he looked at other gas stations in the area and they did not have 
access from the main road.  He said it will be heavily landscaped and not be a 
monstrosity of a building.  Mr. Powell asked the applicant if there are two less 
pumps, would it really be a problem.  Mr. Gibson said in his mind, it would, but 
that’s not solely our intent. 
 
Ms. Howard opened the floor for public comment. 

 
Ms. Howard said the members received two public comments that were from  
Burton Properties and First Carolina Corp. of SC that were in favor of the project. 
 
William R. Smoak, President of Express Lane, Inc. sent his written his public 
comment stating he is opposed to this project.  He said his first two points are more 
addressed toward other actions that the city has taken in other areas.  He believes that  



 
 
ZBOA Minutes 
January 25, 2010 
Page 4 

 
12 fueling positions are greatly in excess of the number needed to serve the potential 
motor fuel volume at this location.  He said in his opinion, from knowledge of the  
fuel market in the Beaufort area that a maximum of eight fueling positions would be  
more than adequate to serve the positional market for this site and that even six might 
be adequate. 
 
Mr. Hill asked if any of these persons in favor of the project are “financially” 
involved in the project.  Ms. Howard said one of the comments is from Burton 
Properties, the current owner. 
 
Ms. Howard closed the public comment. 
 
Ms. Howard said she appreciates what the applicant has done with the building 
changes, but as a board, feels they are still at the same place as they were in 
November.  Mr. Gibson asked, if the ordinance was revised, what detriment to the 
City would there be.  Ms. Howard said this would be up to the City Council.   Mr. 
Gibson asked about the ones that are grandfathered and asked when was it last 
revised.  Ms. Anderson said it was adopted in January 2003.  Ms. Howard since she 
has been on the board, there has been one other project like this one that was denied. 
 
Mr. Lukus referred to a comment regarding the number of pumps that was made by 
Mr. Lane at the November meeting.  Ms. Anderson said it was mentioned, but then 
the response was that you could not redesign the project because it was a pro-type 
building.  She felt if the response was different, than the Board would have tabled the 
project.  Ms. Howard said this could be tabled and then it would go before ZBOA, 
but if it is out right denied, then the applicant could not back for one year.  Mr. 
Gibson asked if the board members would be willing to table the project.  The Board 
said, no, not at this time.  Ms. Andersons said any person can approach the council 
and any person can put in an application to change the ordinance that would be 
presented to council through staff.  Mr. Gibson said he would prefer to have staff 
handle the process of the ordinance change. 
 

Motion:  Mr. Hill made motion, seconded by Mr. Powell, to deny the variance as 
submitted because it does not meet condition #1 of the Findings of Facts.  The motion 
carried with a vote of three to zero. 
 
Mr. Hill suggested that the applicant either choose another site or drop the number of 
pumps. 

 
 



 
 
ZBOA Minutes 
January 25, 2010 
Page 5 
 

B. SC 170 & Burton Hill Road (Murphy Express of Beaufort), identified as 
District 122, Tax Map 29, Parcel 241, Gas Pump Location Variance. 

 
Applicant:  Mike G. Lukus, Commercial Site Solutions, Inc. (ZB10-03) 
 
Ms. Anderson said at the November meeting the Board granted this variance for a 
fueling station with four pumps.  She said if the first variance was granted then 
this variance could be addressed, but since the Board has not granted the pump 
variance this variance for the location of the gas pumps does not have to be 
addressed. 
 
Ms. Howard asked if there were any recommendations from the Board for City 
Council.  The board members said, no.  Mr. Gibson said he’s been doing this long 
enough to know if staff is not in favor of the project then it will not work out.  Ms. 
Howard said we cannot be subjective but Council can be.  Mr. Lukus asked when the 
Council meets.  Ms. Anderson responded.  Mr. Lukus asked how long the process is.  
Ms. Anderson said 45 days.  Mr. Lukus said if the zoning ordinance change is 
approved would it come back to this Board.  Ms. Anderson said no it would go right 
to the Design Review Board. 

 
V. Old Business 
 
 No old business. 
 
VI.       New Business 
 

No new business. 
 
VII.     Adjournment 
 

Motion:  Mr. Hill made a motion, seconded by Mr. Powell, to adjourn the meeting. 
             

The Meeting adjourned at 6:25 P.M. 
 
 
            Submitted by Julie Bachety, Recorder 
 


